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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

  

MARLIN WILLIAMS, PAMELA WILLIAMS  

CARTHENS, JEROME THOMSON, PhD, 

BRENDA DEFORREST, LEVEN WEISS, J.D.,  

MICHAEL D. BROWN, J.D., CORA WILLIAMS,  

and ANTHONY HILL, on behalf of themselves  

and all others similarly situated,    Case No. 17-10097 

 

Plaintiffs,      Hon. Laurie J. Michaelson 

 

vs        CLASS ACTION 
 
FCA US LLC,        
 
 Defendant. 
 

AKEEL & VALENTINE, PLC 

Shereef H. Akeel (P54345) 

Hasan Kaakarli (P81099) 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

888 W. Big Beaver Road, Suite 910 

Troy, MI 48084 

(248) 269-9595 

shereef@akeelvalentine.com 

hasan@akeelvalentine.com 

MILLER CANFIELD 

Jerome R. Watson (P27082) 

Misbah Shahid (P73450) 

Attorneys for Defendant 

150 W. Jefferson Ave., Suite 2500 

Detroit, MI 48226 

watson@millercanfield.com  

shaid@millercanfield.com  

 

PLAINTIFFS’ SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
 

 NOW COME Plaintiffs, MARLIN WILLIAMS, PAMELA WILLIAMS 

CARTHENS, JEROME THOMSON, PhD, BRENDA DEFORREST, LEVEN 

WEISS, J.D., MICHAEL D. BROWN, J.D., CORA WILLIAMS and ANTHONY 

HILL (“Plaintiffs” or “Class Representatives”), individually and on behalf of all 
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others similarly situated, by and through their attorneys, AKEEL & VALENTINE, 

PLC, and state as follows: 

NATURE OF CLAIM 

1. This is a class action for declaratory and injunctive relief against 

Defendant, Fiat Chrysler Automobiles (hereinafter referred to as “FCA”), to 

redress the violations and threatened violations of the rights of Plaintiffs and the 

class they represent (collectively hereinafter “Class” or “Plaintiff Class”) under the 

Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act (“ELCRA”), MCL 37.2101 et seq., and for Equal 

Rights Under the Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1981.   

2. Plaintiff Class also seek compensatory damages against Defendant to 

redress the violations and threatened violations of the rights of Plaintiff Class 

under ELCRA and 42 U.S.C. § 1981.   

3. As Class Representatives, Plaintiffs MARLIN WILLIAMS, 

PAMELA WILLIAMS CARTHENS, JEROME THOMPSON, BRENDA 

DEFORREST, LEVEN WEISS, MICHAEL D. BROWN, CORA WILLIAMS, 

and ANTHONY HILL, respectively, seek to represent salaried, non-union African 

American employees who have been subjected to a systematic, adverse and 

disparate impact, pattern and practice of race discrimination described in this 

Complaint, stemming from specific evaluations and employee rating policies, 

practices, and/or procedures which had the direct negative correlation on 
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compensation, bonuses, promotions, privileges, benefits, and other terms and 

conditions of their employment.   

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff, MARLIN WILLIAMS, an African American, was an 

employee of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the State of 

Michigan.   

5. Plaintiff, MARLIN WILLIAMS, began employment with Defendant 

on or around January 2015 and had been employed during the year 2015.  Plaintiff, 

MARLIN WILLIAMS, has a degree in public relations, a Masters in Liberal Arts 

Studies, a Certification in Organizational Development with an Emphasis on 

Diversity and Leadership Development, and a Certification in Employee Relations 

Law; and had a job classification of Senior Professional.   

6. Plaintiff, PAMELA WILLIAMS CARTHENS, an African American, 

is an employee of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the 

State of Michigan.   

7. Plaintiff, PAMELA WILLIAMS CARTHENS, began employment 

with Defendant on or around September 1986 and remains employed today.  

Plaintiff, PAMELA WILLIAMS CARTHENS, has a degree (Bachelor of Science) 

in Electrical Engineering and a Masters in Business Administration, with a job 

classification of Mid-Level Professional.   
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8. Plaintiff, DR. JEROME THOMSON, an African American, is an 

employee of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the State of 

Indiana.   

9. Plaintiff, DR. JEROME THOMSON, began employment with 

Defendant on or around 1997 and remains employed today.  Plaintiff, DR. 

JEROME THOMSON, has a degree (Bachelor of Science) in Management, and a 

PhD in finance, with a job classification of Senior Manager.   

10. Plaintiff, BRENDA DEFORREST, an African American, is an 

employee of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the State of 

Indiana.   

11. Plaintiff, BRENDA DEFORREST, began employment with 

Defendant on or around 2013 and remains employed today.  Plaintiff, BRENDA 

DEFORREST, has a degree (Bachelor of Science) in Biological Psychology and a 

Masters in Business Administration, and had a job classification of Professional.   

12. Plaintiff, LEVEN WEISS, J.D., an African American, was an 

employee of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the State of 

Michigan.   

13. Plaintiff, LEVEN WEISS, J.D., began employment with Defendant on 

or around December 1985 and had been employed during the years of 2014 and 
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2015.  Plaintiff, LEVEN WEISS, has a degree in Business Administration and is a 

Juris Doctor, with a job classification of Senior Manager.   

14. Plaintiff, MICHAEL BROWN, J.D., an African American, was an 

employee of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the State of 

Maryland.   

15. Plaintiff, MICHAEL BROWN, began employment with Defendant on 

or around 2010 and had been employed during the year 2014.  Plaintiff, 

MICHAEL BROWN, has a degree in Interdisciplinary Studies and is a Juris 

Doctor, and had a job classification of Senior Professional.   

16. Plaintiff, CORA WILLIAMS, an African American, was an employee 

of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the State of Michigan.   

17. Plaintiff, CORA WILLIAMS, began employment with Defendant on 

or around 2012 and had been employed during the years of 2014 and 2015.  

Plaintiff, CORA WILLIAMS, has a degree in business logistics with a job 

classification of Professional.     

18. Plaintiff, ANTHONY HILL, an African American, was an employee 

of Defendant at all relevant times herein, and is a resident of the State of Michigan.   

19. Plaintiff, ANTHONY HILL, began employment with Defendant on or 

around February 2000 and remains employed today.  Plaintiff, ANTHONY HILL, 
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has a degree in business management and a Masters in Business Administration, 

and had a job classification of Senior Manager.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

20. Defendant, FCA, is a Foreign Limited Liability Company 

incorporated in Delaware. 

21. FCA has sufficient minimum contacts in Michigan, or otherwise has 

purposely availed itself of the markets within Michigan, through the promotion, 

sale, marketing, and distribution of its vehicles, in addition to having its principle 

place of business or headquarters in Michigan to render the exercise of jurisdiction 

by this Honorable Court proper and necessary.   

22. This Honorable Court has subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, because Plaintiffs’ claims raise a federal question under 42 U.S.C. 

2000e and 42 U.S.C. § 1981.   

23. This Honorable Court, also, has subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1332 (d) (2). 

24. This Honorable Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over 

Plaintiffs’ claims under Michigan law pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because 

they are inextricably intertwined with the federal claims and arise out of the same 

nucleus of operative facts.   
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25. Venue is proper in this Honorable Court as Defendant conducts 

business within the Eastern District of Michigan and are subject to personal 

jurisdiction within the Eastern District of Michigan and a substantial part of the 

events giving rise to the claims alleged occurred in the Eastern District of 

Michigan, see 29 U.S.C. § 1391(b).   

26. On or around March 9, 2017, after filing a charge with the Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) for race discrimination on her 

behalf and others similarly situated, as well as retaliation for herself individually, 

Plaintiff, Marlin Williams (“M. Williams”), was issued a Right to Sue letter, and 

this action was timely filed in accordance with that letter.  (Exh. A – March 9 

Right to Sue Letter).   

27. Similarly, after filing charges with EEOC for race discrimination and 

retaliation on her own behalf against Defendant FCA, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, 

was also issued two Right to Sue letters.  (Exh. B – See February 22, 2017 and 

February 24, 2017 Right to Sue Letters).   

PLAINTIFF MARLIN WILLIAMS  

APPOINTED TO DIVERSITY MANAGER  

28. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs, as 

though fully set forth herein.   

29. Plaintiff M. Williams began her employment with Defendant 

beginning in January 2015 with the title Talent Management Consultant. 
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30. Prior to being employed with Defendant, Plaintiff M. Williams, who 

has a Master’s Degree from the University of Detroit Mercy, had developed an 

extensive and impressive record  over a 25 year period in setting up and promoting 

diversity programs and initiatives in organizations such as: Compuware, where she 

served as the Global Chief Diversity and Inclusion Officer; Knowledge Brokers, 

where she served as CEO in the further promotion in diverse staffing and 

recruiting; in addition to also serving as the Deputy Chief Information Officer for 

the City of Detroit, where she succeeded in managing over 500 employees with a 

focus on promoting a positive work environment which rewards employees based 

on merit.   

31. Among her accolades, Plaintiff M. Williams was selected to 

participate in the White House Office of Technology and Science Policy Round 

Table on Bridging the Technology Gender and Racial Gap; selected to serve as a 

national direct placement agency for Microsoft Corporation due to her successful 

diversity talent acquisition strategies and placements; created a Fortune 500 

Corporation’s first global organizational development department; served as a 

keynote speaker for Microsoft’s Global DigiGirlz Technology Camp; founded 

Sisters Code, an award winning non-profit; helped to create the first technology 

curriculum for Lawrence Technological University; served as a speaker on 

Diversity and Inclusion, bridging the technology gap, and empowerment in STEM 
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for: MSNBC, SXSW, Microsoft Corporation, Techonomy, Tech Week, Meeting of 

the Minds, and other organizations; and is frequently a Media Contributor.   

32. On or about September 2015, Plaintiff M. Williams was advised by 

Defendant that she was promoted to Diversity Manager and assigned company-

wide responsibilities, which included improving diversity representation of 

minorities, implementing and promoting a culture of diversity, tolerance and 

inclusion, and increasing accountability for diversity, inclusion, and respect.  

33. Indeed, Plaintiff M. Williams was selected to assume many of the 

duties that her predecessor, Georgette Burrego Dulworth, a non-African American 

employee, had and who was Director of Talent Acquisition and Diversity.   

34. Although Plaintiff M. Williams was requested to assume many of the 

duties that non-African American, Director Dulworth had, Plaintiff was never 

given a similar title, never actually promoted, and was never provided the 

additional perks that came with a job that performed similar functions as a 

Director, including but not limited to, additional compensation, generous vehicle 

allowances, prestigious title and other terms and conditions associated with 

performing such a function.  

35. Defendant FCA has compensation job categories or levels for salaried 

employees, known as “Compensation Level” or “Comp Level”, generally defined 

2:17-cv-10097-LJM-EAS   Doc # 8   Filed 03/16/17   Pg 9 of 36    Pg ID 71



10 
 

in the following order, from top to bottom: Senior Leadership, Director, Senior 

Manager, Senior Professional, Mid-Level Professional, and Professional.     

36. Plaintiff Class is part of the Comp Level, and Plaintiff M. Williams is 

a member of Plaintiff Class. 

37. At all relevant times, Plaintiff M. Williams’ Compensation Level or 

Comp Level was a Senior Professional.    

38. Despite the assumption of many of the duties the former Director 

performed, and assuming the new title of Diversity Manager, Plaintiff M. 

Williams’ Comp Level remained the same, in that, she was never actually 

promoted to the next level as Senior Manager, but still remained as a Senior 

Professional.   

39. Thus, with Plaintiff M. Williams remaining as Senior Professional 

with no actual promotion to the next level – Senior Manager – Plaintiff M. 

Williams was never provided the additional compensation, benefits, perks, and 

privileges that are typically provided to a Senior Manager. 

40. In fact, Plaintiff M. Williams was promised by Defendant that with 

her assumption of the new duties of the former Director, her Comp Level would 

change, in that she would be promoted to Senior Manager, which never occurred. 

41. While still being classified as only a Senior Professional, Defendant 

requested that Plaintiff M. Williams state her title as Chief Diversity and Inclusion 
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Officer at FCA on her LinkedIn page, presumably to show the public that African 

Americans do occupy high officer positions, when in reality this was not the case.    

42. As part of her duties as Diversity Manager, Plaintiff M. Williams 

assumed the duties in developing a program that would be effective in recruiting, 

developing, retaining and promoting a diverse workforce for Defendant.  

43. Plaintiff M. Williams’ duties also included identifying performance 

and leadership gaps of diverse population, which includes genders, all races, and 

ethnicities. 

44. As part of her work responsibilities, specifically in trying to 

implement an effective employee retention program, Plaintiff M. Williams also 

monitored and compared compensation in order to highlight potential 

discrepancies in pay equity and advancement opportunities for employees of all 

races, gender, and ethnicities. 

45. Plaintiff M. Williams also undertook performance comparisons in 

order to compare and highlight inequities or discrepancies in ratings, goals, and 

evaluations.  

EVALUATION PROCESS 

46. Importantly, Plaintiff M. Williams learned and observed that when 

employees are rated, evaluated, and given scores, they are subjected generally to a 

two-step process (“Evaluation Process”).  First, employees are rated either as 
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“High”, “Medium”, or “Low” by their direct supervisor as to their performance; 

this is known as the Performance and Leadership Management Rating or “PLM 

Rating”.  Then, there is a calibration process where  numerical scores are discussed 

among management, the majority of whom are white, resulting in a certain 

numerical score or “PLM Score”, being given to the employee.   

47. This Evaluation Process, which incorporates the PLM Rating and 

PLM Score, has been implemented under the direction, supervision, and control of 

senior leadership, led by CEO Sergio Marchionne, to be used on a company-wide 

basis.   

48. Furthermore, employees are typically rated within a 9-Box Score, 

where a rating of 1, 2, and 4 is identified by a red color (as in danger and usually 

associate with “low”); a rating of 3, 5, and 7 is identified by a yellow color (as in 

warning); and a rating of 6, 8, and 9 is identified by a green color (as in effective 

and high performer).   

49. An employee who scores below a 5 on the 9-Box Score can result in 

that employee being place on a Performance Improvement Program, otherwise 

known as a PIP. 

50. During the calibration process, photos of the employees who are being 

evaluated are displayed and/or used by the majority white/non-black managers 

when adjusting employees’ rating scores referenced above.   
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51. These scores follow a recommended distribution, or forced 

distribution, which requires management to arbitrarily and subjectively rate a 

certain number, or percentage, of employees at scores either 5 or below, regardless 

of performance.   

52. And as part of the Evaluation Process, the higher the score, the higher 

the bonuses and additional pay awarded, in addition to increases in advancement 

opportunities.   

53. Bonus-based ratings also increased the higher up the hierarchy an 

employee reaches.  For example, a Senior Professional’s rating of 6/9 (nine being 

the highest) would net a certain bonus, whereas a Senior Manager’s rating of 6/9 

would net a bigger bonus.  

54. In the course of performing her tasks, Plaintiff M. Williams observed 

that on a company-wide basis that salaried, non-union, non-African American 

employees of a Senior Manager Comp Level to Professional, and subject to the 

Evaluation Process, were being treated far more favorably overall, as to their 

compensation, ratings, advancement opportunities, terms, and conditions than 

salaried, non-union African American employees, which includes the Class 

Representatives. 

55. In fact, Plaintiff M. Williams observed that salaried, non-union 

African American employees that were subject to the Evaluation Process were 
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being rated with lower scores, at 5 or below, at a disproportionate and alarming 

rate than salaried, non-union, non-African American employees.  

56. Plaintiff M. Williams herself learned that her initial PLM Rating was 

downgraded from a high achiever after management engaged in the calibration 

process.   

57. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, also had a PLM Rating of “Medium” overall 

for 2015, which was then downgraded to a “Low” numerical PLM Score of  a “4”, 

after management engaged in the subjective calibration process, indicating that she 

did not meet expectations overall. 

58. Additionally, Plaintiff M. Williams also observed that in comparison 

to salaried, non-union, non-African American employees – salaried, non-union 

African American employees of a Senior Manager Comp Level to Professional, 

were given lower overall PLM Scores of “5” and below at an alarmingly 

disproportionate rate, thus adversely impacting advancement opportunities and 

increases in pay, among other losses.   

59. As a result of the two-step Evaluation Process, in 2014 and 2015, the 

Plaintiff Class PLM scores were disproportionately lower for African American 

employees following the calibration process, in comparison to non-African 

American employees.  
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60. Indeed, for both years, and as a result of the Evaluation Process and 

forced distribution policy, Plaintiff Class was disproportionately given lower PLM 

scores of 5 and below.    

61. Plaintiff M. Williams reported to management that salaried, non-union 

African American employees were being treated less favorably, adversely affected, 

and/or discriminated against in terms of compensation and the terms and 

conditions of their employment.   

62. Plaintiff M. Williams also reported to upper management or senior 

leadership that salaried, non-union African American employees were being 

treated less favorably, adversely affected, and/or discriminated against in receiving 

lower PLM Scores on a company-wide basis than salaried, non-union, non-African 

American employees.   

63. Plaintiff, M. Williams, also reported to upper management or senior 

leadership that salaried, non-union African American employees were being given 

lower scores after the calibration process, as described above, at a significantly 

disproportionate rate than salaried, non-union non-African American employees.  

64. Plaintiff, M. Williams, also reported that Defendant’s existing 

Evaluation Process has resulted in a disparate impact on salaried, non-union 

African American employees for at least the years 2014 and 2015, which has led to 
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lower compensation, benefits, bonuses, and a decline in advancement 

opportunities.   

65. In fact, as of today, among the hundreds of company-wide Directors, 

there are approximately only two African American female Directors and 

approximately only five to nine African American male Directors.  

66. As a result of her reporting the disparate impact that has afflicted 

African American employees, Plaintiff M. Williams was retaliated against for 

making such a report and/or opposing such company discriminatory practices 

and/or policies by, among other things: 1) being accused of not performing certain 

duties as expected; 2) placed under investigation for reporting certain 

discriminatory acts towards African Americans; and 3) ostracized and essentially 

excommunicated from her colleagues and upper management.   

67. Under tremendous pressure in fearing the loss of her job and 

destruction of her 30 year-long stellar career, Plaintiff M. Williams submitted her 

two-week notice on January 2, 2017.   

68. In further acts of retaliation, Defendant immediately terminated 

Plaintiff M. Williams’ employment, and escorted her out of the building on 

January 3, 2017.   
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69. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, was also retaliated against by being placed 

on a Performance Improvement Plan (“PIP”), after she reported and questioned her 

PLM Score to human resources and upper management or senior leadership.   

70. In June 2016, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, filed a charge with EEOC 

regarding Defendant FCA’s discriminatory practices and/or policies based on race.   

71. After her filing with EEOC, and in further act of retaliation, Plaintiff, 

Cora Williams, was terminated in December of 2016.   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

72. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs, as 

though fully set forth herein.   

73. Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) (b)(3), 

individually, and on the behalf of:  

a. All salaried, non-union African American employees from the 

Comp Level of Senior Manager to Professional only, employed or 

formerly employed by Defendant, that were subjected to the 

Evaluation Process and received PLM scores of 5 or below for the 

years 2014 and 2015 only.   

 

Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend this definition as necessary.   

 

74. Defendant’s practice and/or policy regarding the evaluation and rating 

of salaried, non-union employees, which includes: 1) a subjective “calibration” 

element of rating employees; 2) use of photographs to identify Plaintiffs, including 

their race, to management when deciding which  PLM Score to issue; and 3) forced 
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or recommended distribution, causing certain percentage of employees to receive 

lower PLM Scores; subjected company-wide salaried, non-union African 

American employees to less favorable and disproportionate adverse ratings and 

evaluations in comparison to salaried, non-union, non-African American 

employees, resulting in reduced compensation, chances of promotion, and other 

terms, conditions, and benefits. 

75. In other words, Plaintiff Class, from Comp Level Professional to 

Comp Level Senior Manager, were more adversely and disproportionately affected 

by Defendant’s existing subjective Evaluation Process - which included 1) the use 

of photographs to identify members of the Class, including their race, in addition to 

2) the recommended or forced distribution practice or policy -  in comparison to 

non-African American employees. 

76. As a result of Defendant’s practice and policy of discriminating 

against African American employees, Plaintiff Class has been denied similar 

employment benefits and opportunities afforded to white employees and/or non-

African American employees.   

77. Such disparate impact affects Plaintiff Class in a number of ways, 

including, but not limited to, bonuses for a given year, additional compensation, 

other privileges and benefits, and/or future advancement opportunities.   
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78. Plaintiffs seek to maintain this class, pursuant to Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure 23, on the issues of whether Defendant engaged in unlawful 

discrimination and whether Defendant should be enjoined from continuing its 

discriminatory policies.   

79. The Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable; 

hundreds (if not thousands) of salaried workers have been subjected to Defendant’s 

performance evaluation system or Evaluation Process. 

80. Plaintiffs do not know the precise number of the Class, but can easily 

ascertain this information from Defendant’s records.   

81. Common questions of fact and law exist as to all members of the 

Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of 

the Class.   

82. Among the questions of law and fact in common to Plaintiff Class is 

whether Defendant violated Title VII and ELCRA by implementing their 

Evaluation Process in such a manner that resulted in a disparate impact on African 

Americans by among other things; 1) disproportionately receiving lower PLM 

Scores resulting in lower pay raises, bonuses, and promotional potential, and 2) 

disproportionately being subjected to less retention, development, and succession 

or advancement opportunities.    
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83. In other words, Defendant’s Evaluation Process has had a significant 

disparate impact on qualified African Americans, including Plaintiff Class.  

84. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class 

and they are an adequate representative of the Class.   

85. Plaintiffs and members of the Class have sustained damages because 

of Defendant’s unlawful activities alleged herein.   

86. Plaintiffs have retained counsel, competent and experienced in 

employment, civil rights, and race discrimination litigation, and intend to prosecute 

this action vigorously.   

87. Plaintiffs seek, for themselves and Plaintiff Class, a declaration that 

their rights were violated, and a judgment awarding them liquidated damages and 

attorneys’ fees and costs to make them whole for damages they suffered, and to 

help ensure Defendant will not subject future workers to the same illegal conduct 

in the future.   

88. Additionally, Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and 

all salaried, non-union African American employees employed by Defendant that 

received a PLM Score of 5 or below for the years 2014 and 2015, and were 

subjected to Defendant’s employee Evaluation Process, pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23 to remedy violations of Federal law, including 42 U.S.C. § 
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2000e and 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and Michigan law, in addition to ELCRA, MCL 

37.2101 et seq.   

COUNT I 

RACE DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII BY 

DEFENDANT FCA AGAINST ALL PLAINTIFFS 

(DISPARATE IMPACT) 
 

89.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs, as 

though fully set forth herein.   

90. At all material times, Defendant was an employer, covered by and 

within the meaning of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended.   

91. The race of the members of Plaintiff Class’ was a factor that made a 

difference in Defendant’s decision to evaluate them lower than their similarly 

situated, non-African American employees and to subject Plaintiffs to the wrongful 

and discriminatory conduct described above.   

92. Defendant, by its agents, representatives, and employees, were 

predisposed to discriminate on the basis of race and acted in accordance with that 

predisposition.   

93. Defendant has used their subjective evaluation practice or procedure -, 

including:  1) the use of photographs which results in identifying the skin color of 

members of Plaintiff Class; 2) who were then being evaluated under a 

recommended or forced distribution policy - resulting in disproportionately lower 

ratings or PLM Scores for salaried, non-union African American employees 
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described in the Class definition above, in comparison to their non-African 

American counterparts.   

94. Defendant’s use of their subjective evaluation practice or procedure 

has resulted in a disproportionate number of African American employees (1) 

losing pay raises, bonuses, and/or promotional potential, and (2) disproportionately 

being subjected to demotion, or being placed on PIP under threat of termination. 

95. Defendant’s rationale for its discrimination is not a legitimate non-

discriminatory reason for discriminating against African American employees 

described in the Class definition above.   

96. As a result of Defendant’s discriminatory policies, Plaintiff Class has 

been adversely impacted by having been denied the benefits (e.g. bonuses, pay 

raises, enhanced retirement benefits, and/or promotion) afforded to non-African 

American, salaried employees similarly situated, in violation of Title VII.   

97. Defendant can evaluate its employees with an evaluation tool with 

less discriminatory impact.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of Plaintiff Class, 

request this Honorable Court award judgment against Defendant for compensatory 

damages, which include back pay and related loss of pay resulting from 

Defendant’s use of the Evaluation Process, in whatever amount the jury finds 

necessary, in addition to punitive or exemplary damages plus costs, interest and 
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attorney fees, as allowed under the Act, plus (1) declaratory relief recognizing that 

Defendant has unlawfully discriminated against the Class based on their race; (2) 

injunctive relief prohibiting the consideration of race in evaluations  and ending the 

discriminatory policies described herein; and (3) an award of costs, interest and 

attorney fees.   

COUNT II 

VIOLATOIN OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981  

AGAINST ALL PLAINTIFFS 

98. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs, as 

though fully set forth herein.   

99. 42 U.S.C. § 1981(a) provides:  

(b) Statement of equal rights 

All persons within the jurisdiction of the United States shall 

have the same right in every State and Territory to make and 

enforce contracts, to sue, be parties, give evidence, and to the 

full and equal benefit of all laws and proceedings for the 

security of persons and property as is enjoyed by white citizens, 

and shall be subject to like punishment, pains, penalties, taxes, 

licenses, and exactions of every kind, and to no other.   

 

100. Further, 42 U.S.C. § 1981(b) provides:  

(b) “Make and enforce contracts” defined 

For purposes of this section, the term “make and enforce 

contracts” includes the making, performance, modification, and 

termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all benefits, 

privileges, terms, and conditions of the contractual 

relationship.   
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101. Plaintiffs were subjected to intentional discrimination because they 

are African Americans, a protected class.   

102. Plaintiffs were qualified for the positions they held and/or continue to 

hold. 

103. Plaintiffs, and Plaintiff Class, were given lower evaluations or PLM 

Scores than their similarly situated non-African American employees.   

104. Plaintiffs were subjected to an Evaluation Process that relied heavily 

on subjective input, including photographs to identify the race of the members of 

the Class and the recommended or forced distribution practices, rather than 

objective data, which was being effectuated by decision makers outside of the 

protected group.   

105. Had Plaintiffs not been African American, Plaintiffs would not have 

received such consistently lower PLM Sores in comparison to non-African 

Americans employees. 

106. Defendant has no legitimate business interest for rating Plaintiffs 

consistently lower than non-African Americans despite fulfilling company 

objectives.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request this Honorable Court award judgment 

against Defendant for compensatory damages, which include back pay and related 

loss of pay resulting from Defendant’s use of the Evaluation Process, in whatever 
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amount the jury finds necessary, in addition to punitive or exemplary damages plus 

costs, interest and attorney fees, as allowed under the Act, plus (1) declaratory 

relief recognizing that Defendant has unlawfully discriminated against the Class 

based on their race; (2) injunctive relief prohibiting the consideration of race in 

evaluations  and ending the discriminatory policies described herein; and (3) an 

award of costs, interest and attorney fees.   

COUNT III 

RACE DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF ELCRA, MCL 37.2101 et 

seq. BY DEFENDANT FCA AGAINST ALL PLAINTIFFS 

(DISPARATE IMPACT) 

107. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs, as 

though fully set forth herein.   

108. Plaintiffs, and members of Plaintiff Class, are African-American.   

109. Plaintiffs, and members of Plaintiff Class, are and were qualified for 

the positions they held and/or hold with Defendant.   

110. Defendant’s subjective Evaluation Process policy and/or practice 

regarding their subjective evaluation system, which include the use of photographs 

and forced distribution of low to medium PLM Scores, has had, and continues to 

have, a significant disparate impact on African American non-union salaried 

employees, including Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Class.   
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111. The existing subjective performance evaluation system, which 

includes the use of photographs and recommended forced distribution, serves no 

significant business need.   

112. Defendant can evaluate its employees with an evaluation tool with 

less discriminatory impact.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of Plaintiff Class, 

request this Honorable Court award judgment against Defendant for compensatory 

damages, which include back pay and related entitled benefits, in whatever amount 

the jury finds necessary, in addition to punitive or exemplary damages plus costs, 

interest and attorney fees, as allowed under the Act, plus (1) declaratory relief 

recognizing that Defendant has unlawfully discriminated against the Class based 

on their race; (2) injunctive relief prohibiting the consideration of race in 

evaluations  and ending the discriminatory policies described herein; and (3) an 

award of costs, interest and attorney fees.   

COUNT IV 

RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII, 42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq., 

AGAINST PLAINTIFF, MARLIN WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY   

113. Plaintiff, M. Williams, incorporates by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein.   
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114. Plaintiff M. Williams’ reporting of discriminatory practices and/or 

policies that unlawfully impacted the above mentioned Class constituted a 

protected activity under Title VII.   

115. Defendant FCA and its agents have retaliated against Plaintiff M. 

Williams for reporting the discriminatory practices and/or policies and/or opposing 

violations of Title VII, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 2000e.   

116. The retaliation by Defendant was swift, immediate, and absolute.   

117. Defendant’s retaliation included, but is not limited to, 1) being 

accused of not performing certain duties as expected; 2) placed under investigation 

for reporting certain discriminatory acts; 3) ostracized and essentially 

excommunicated from her colleagues and upper management; and 4) terminating 

Plaintiff the day after she put in her two-week notice.   

118. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful actions 

against Plaintiff M. Williams as described above, Plaintiff M. Williams suffered 

injuries and damages, including, but not limited to, loss of earnings and earning 

capacity, loss of career opportunities, loss of reputation and esteem, mental and 

emotional distress, and loss of the pleasures of ordinary life.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff M. Williams requests this Honorable Court award 

judgment against Defendant for compensatory damages in whatever amount the 

jury finds necessary, economic and non-economic damages sustained by Plaintiff 
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in addition to punitive or exemplary damages plus costs, interest and attorney fees, 

as allowed under the Act and other equitable relief as this Honorable Court deems 

just and equitable and demands judgment against Defendant in whatever amount 

the jury deems necessary.   

COUNT V 

RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF ELCRA, MCL 27.2101 et seq. 

AGAINST PLAINTIFF, MARLIN WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY   
 

119. Plaintiff, M. Williams, incorporates by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein.   

120. Plaintiff M. Williams’ reporting of discriminatory practices and/or 

policies that unlawfully impacted the above mentioned Class constituted a 

protected activity under ELCRA.   

121. Defendant FCA and its agents have retaliated against Plaintiff M. 

Williams for reporting the discriminatory practices and/or policies and/or opposing 

violations of ELCRA, in violation of the Act.   

122. The retaliation by Defendant was swift, immediate, and absolute.   

123. Defendant’s retaliation included, but is not limited to, 1) being 

accused of not performing certain duties as expected; 2) placed under investigation 

for reporting certain discriminatory acts; 3) ostracized and essentially 

excommunicated from her colleagues and upper management; and 4) terminating 

Plaintiff the day after she put in her two-week notice.   
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124. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful actions 

against Plaintiff M. Williams as described above, Plaintiff M. Williams suffered 

injuries and damages, including, but not limited to, loss of earnings and earning 

capacity, loss of career opportunities, loss of reputation and esteem, mental and 

emotional distress, and loss of the pleasures of ordinary life.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff M. Williams requests this Honorable Court award 

judgment against Defendant for compensatory damages in whatever amount the 

jury finds necessary, economic and non-economic damages sustained by Plaintiff 

in addition to punitive or exemplary damages plus costs, interest and attorney fees, 

as allowed under the Act and other equitable relief as this Honorable Court deems 

just and equitable and demands judgment against Defendant in whatever amount 

the jury deems necessary.   

COUNT VI 

RACE DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII, 42 U.S.C. 

2000e, BY DEFENDANT FCA AGAINST PLAINTIFF,  

CORA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY 

(WRONGFUL TERMINATION) 

 

125. Plaintiff Cora Williams incorporates by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein.   

126. This wrongful termination claim pertains only to Plaintiff, Cora 

Williams.   
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127. At all material times, Defendant was an employer, covered by and 

within the meaning of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended.   

128. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, unjustly received a low PLM Score for 2015, 

despite having met work expectations.   

129. Plaintiff’s race was a factor that made a difference in Defendant’s 

decision to evaluate her lower than her similarly situated, non-African American 

employees and to subject Plaintiff to the wrongful and discriminatory conduct 

described above.   

130. Defendant, by its agents, representatives, and employees, were 

predisposed to discriminate on the basis of race and acted in accordance with that 

predisposition.   

131. Defendant has used their subjective evaluation practice or procedure  

– including:  1) the use of photographs which results in identifying the skin color 

of Plaintiff and other similarly situated African American and non-African 

American employees; 2) who were then being evaluated under a recommended or 

forced distribution policy -  resulting in disproportionately lower ratings for 

salaried, non-union African American employees like Plaintiff, Cora Williams, in 

comparison to her non-African American counterparts.   

132. Defendant’s rationale for its discrimination is not a legitimate non-

discriminatory reason for discriminating against Plaintiff, Cora Williams.   
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133. Defendant’s actions were intentional, with reckless indifference to 

Plaintiff’s rights and sensibilities.   

134. If Plaintiff Cora Williams had been white, she would not have been 

treated in the manner described above.   

135. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s discriminatory 

policies and wrongful acts, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, has sustained loss of earnings, 

earning capacity, and fringe benefits, and has suffered mental anguish, physical 

and emotional distress, humiliation and embarrassment, and loss of professional 

reputation.    

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, respectfully requests that this 

Honorable Court enter a judgment in her favor and against Defendant FCA to fully 

compensate her for any and all of her economic and non-economic damages, and 

to award costs, and attorney fees, and grant such further and additional relief as 

this Court deems just and equitable.   

COUNT VII 

RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII, 42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq., 

AGAINST PLAINTIFF, CORA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY   

 

136. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, incorporates by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein.   
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137. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, disputed her 2015 PLM Score with her 

supervisor, and complained to Human Resources and upper management, 

including, CEO Sergio Marchionne about same.   

138. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, was subsequently placed on a Performance 

Improvement Plan, a materially adverse action.   

139. After filing a charge on or around June 2016 with the EEOC regarding 

Defendant FCA’s discriminatory practices and/or policies based on race, Plaintiff, 

Cora Williams, was terminated on or around December 2016.   

140. Plaintiff, Cora Williams’, charge of discriminatory practices and/or 

policies against Defendant FCA, constituted a protected activity under Title VII.   

141. Defendant FCA had knowledge of Plaintiff, Cora Williams’, 

complaint.   

142. Defendant FCA and its agents have retaliated against Plaintiff Cora 

Williams for reporting the discriminatory practices and/or policies and/or opposing 

violations of Title VII, in violation of the Act.   

143. The retaliation by Defendant was swift, immediate, and absolute.   

144. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s discriminatory 

policies and wrongful acts, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, has sustained loss of earnings, 

earning capacity, and fringe benefits, and has suffered mental anguish, physical 
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and emotional distress, humiliation and embarrassment, and loss of professional 

reputation.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, respectfully requests that this 

Honorable Court enter a judgment in her favor and against Defendant FCA to fully 

compensate her for any and all of her economic and non-economic damages, and 

to award costs, and attorney fees, and grant such further and additional relief as 

this Court deems just and equitable.   

COUNT VIII 

RACE DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF ELCRA, M.C.L. 37.2101 et 

seq., BY DEFENDANT FCA AGAINST PLAINTIFF,  

CORA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY 

(WRONGFUL TERMINATION) 

 

145. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, incorporates by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein.   

146. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, unjustly received low PLM scores.   

147. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, complained about receiving the low PLM 

scores.   

148. Plaintiff’s race was a factor that made a difference in Defendant’s 

decision to evaluate her lower than her similarly situated, non-African American 

employees and to subject Plaintiff to the wrongful and discriminatory conduct 

described above.   
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149. Defendant, by its agents, representatives, and employees, were 

predisposed to discriminate on the basis of race and acted in accordance with that 

predisposition.   

150. Defendant has used their subjective evaluation practice or procedure -

including:  1) the use of photographs which results in identifying the skin color of 

Plaintiff, Cora Williams; 2) who was then being evaluated under a recommended 

or forced distribution policy,  in a manner that resulted in disproportionately lower 

ratings for Plaintiff, Cora Williams, in comparison to her non-African American 

counterparts.   

151. Defendant’s rationale for its discrimination is not a legitimate non-

discriminatory reason for discriminating against Plaintiff, Cora Williams.   

152. Defendant’s actions were intentional, with reckless indifference to 

Plaintiff’s rights and sensibilities.   

153. If Plaintiff Cora Williams had been white, she would not have been 

treated in the manner described above.   

154. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s discriminatory 

policies and wrongful acts, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, has sustained loss of earnings, 

earning capacity, and fringe benefits, and has suffered mental anguish, physical 

and emotional distress, humiliation and embarrassment, and loss of professional 

reputation.   
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, respectfully requests that this 

Honorable Court enter a judgment in her favor and against Defendant FCA to fully 

compensate her for any and all of her economic and non-economic damages, and 

to award costs, and attorney fees, and grant such further and additional relief as 

this Court deems just and equitable.   

COUNT IX 

RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF ELCRA, M.C.L. 37.2101 et seq., 

AGAINST PLAINTIFF, CORA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY   
 

155. Plaintiff, Cora Williams, incorporates by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein.   

156. After filing a charge on or around June 2016 with the EEOC regarding 

Defendant FCA’s discriminatory practices and/or policies based on race, Plaintiff, 

Cora Williams, was terminated on or around December 2016.   

157. Plaintiff, Cora Williams’, charge of discriminatory practices and/or 

policies against Defendant FCA, constituted a protected activity under Title VII.   

158. Defendant FCA had knowledge of Plaintiff, Cora Williams’, 

complaint.   

159. Defendant FCA and its agents have retaliated against Plaintiff Cora 

Williams for reporting the discriminatory practices and/or policies and/or opposing 

violations of ELCRA, in violation of the Act.   

160. The retaliation by Defendant was swift, immediate, and absolute.   
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161. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s discriminatory 

policies and wrongful acts, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, has sustained loss of earnings, 

earning capacity, and fringe benefits, and has suffered mental anguish, physical 

and emotional distress, humiliation and embarrassment, and loss of professional 

reputation.   

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Cora Williams, respectfully requests that this 

Honorable Court enter a judgment in her favor and against Defendant FCA to fully 

compensate her for any and all of her economic and non-economic damages, and 

to award costs, and attorney fees, and grant such further and additional relief as 

this Court deems just and equitable.   

      Respectfully submitted, 

AKEEL & VALENTINE, PLC 

/s/:  SHEREEF H. AKEEL  

          By: Shereef H. Akeel (P54345)  

       Hasan Kaakarli (P81099) 

       Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

888 West Big Beaver Road, Ste. 910 

       Troy, MI  48084 

Dated:  March 16, 2017    (248) 269-9595 
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